STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

FEB 09 2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No.15-AP-1994-CR 14-CM-000698

V.

JEFFREY S. DECKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE SCOTT C. WOLDT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEFFREY DECKER

651 Jackson Street Oshkosh WI 54901 (715) 321-0905 reporterdecker@gmail.com Defendant-Appellant, *pro se*

1

ISSUES PRESENTED

Ι

Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that officers acted with legal authority known to Decker?

The trial court implicitly answered YES.

Π

Was Decker denied the right to present a defense when the court refused to examine the foundation for any exclusion order, and then prevented Decker from offering complete closing arguments?

The trial court implicitly answered NO.

III

Should this court exercise its discretionary power to order a new trial in the interests of justice?

The trial court implicitly answered NO.

STATEMENT ON ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

٠.

Oral argument is not requested, but Defendant-Appellant will certainly not object if the court would deem it beneficial. Publication is requested because determination of the issues presented my provide better guidance to courts and litigants confronting these issues in the future.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 16, 2014, the general public was invited to the grand opening of the UW-Oshkosh Alumni Welcome and Conference Center. Decker attended and was promptly ordered to leave. He refused and was subsequently arrested and jailed. After a bench trial (R8, R24, R35), Decker was convicted of having obstructed an officer contrary to Wis. Stats., s. 946.41. (R15.) Decker was unrepresented at trial. (R35:3.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant Jeffrey Decker is former speaker of the UW-Stevens Point Student Government Association, with a history of advocating for student rights statewide. As a concerned alumnus, he urges others to object to UW officials overcharging millions of dollars of student fees in violation of sec. 36.09(5), Stats. (R35:63, line 15). Widespread opposition by elected student leaders to those illegal fee increases is summarized in a June news article found online at isthmus.com/news/ news/uw-student-rights-take-a-hit-without-shared-governance/. At no time has he posed any risk to the well-being of students or staff, and nothing in the record suggests otherwise.

Soon after dismissing another case regarding Decker's presence on campus, the State prosecuted Decker for his conduct on May 16, 2014. The state presented one witness, Christopher Tarmann, and no exhibits. (R35:2.) Tarmann is a Lieutenant of the UW-Oshkosh Police Department. (R35:5.) He testified that on May 16, 2014, he was standing post at the entry to Alumni Welcome and Conference Center for the grand opening. (R35:5-6.) It was about 10 a.m. (R35:29.)

Tarmann said he was aware of a new directive excluding Decker from campus and that he might arrive at the Center. (R35:6,17.) It purportedly came from UW System officials. (R35:16.) He received written and email notice of the restriction. (R35:6.) Because it came from officials that he ordinarily relied upon, he did not deem it necessary to further verify the existence or validity of the order. (R35:9, 11-12.) That directive was termed a "restriction on presence." (R35:15.) Campus police claim to enforce it by issuing a citation for unauthorized presence. (R35:11-12.)

Tarmann indicated his belief that a restriction against Decker being on campus had been in place for years. (R35:16.) In seeking further information, he learned there was no order of protection enjoining Decker from entry. (R35:15.) He was aware of restrictions on Decker having resulted in previous citations and court proceedings, but claimed to be unaware of each of those cases being dismissed. (R35:10,11.)

According to Tarmann's testimony, he was inside the Center when he saw Decker approach. He knew Decker by sight. (R35:6.) The two have live in the same neighborhood and have occasionally spoken on the sidewalk near Tarmann's home.

At the Center, Decker had on a suit and tie. (R35:7.) Tarmann recounted calling out Decker's name with a request to speak (R35:23.) Tarmann did not reference his identity as a police officer or direct Decker to stop. (R35:25, Line 20.) Decker did not verbally respond (R35:23.) and testified that he did not know who had called his name. Tarman acknowledged that because of the morning sunlight, Decker might only have seen his own reflection in the glass doors at this point. (R35:20.)

Decker played a recording of the initial encounter (or near miss) in which the only word from Tarmann audible to the recorder was "Hey, Jeff." (R35:51.) Decker also testified that all he heard was "Jeff." (R35:46.) He attempted to elaborate as to what had been audible from his perspective, but the court cut him off telling him it was not appropriate for him to be engaged in "argument." (R35:53.) After evidence was closed, Decker was able to note that the tone of voice he heard suggested whoever was speaking was someone he would not want to talk to. (R35:59-60.) The State offered no evidence that Decker was required to speak with anyone, police officer or otherwise, who had called out his name.

Decker spoke briefly with Chancellor Richard Wells and Athletic Director Darryl Sims before he was approached by Chief LeMire, who immediately ordered Decker to leave the premises. (R35:47,line 3) Having proven multiple times in several courts of law UW officials have no grounds to remove him from public property, (R35:11) Decker felt confident in his right to attend the public event.

Chief LeMire made no effort to provide Decker with any order of exclusion or provide any justification for his order to leave. (R35:42 line 2) Decker invited the chief to carry him out of the building. LeMire refused, saying "Let's not play this game." (R35:51) Instead of merely applying minimal force to achieve complaince, LeMire tackled Decker. (R35:47 line 6) The force of hitting the ground deactivated Decker's digital recorder. Taking exception with the inappropriate physical contact, Decker refused to cooperate with the arrest (R35:8), such that it took several minutes to handcuff him and bring him under control.

Decker was transported to Winnebago County Jail, where Tarmann finally served him with a written order claiming to prohibit him from all UW System property statewide. Decker remained in jail for four days and was charged with Obstructing an Officer pursuant to Wis. Stats., §946.41. He was not charged with Trespassing or Unauthorized Presence.

Judge Scott Woldt was assigned the case and the matter was scheduled for jury trial. Decker requested a court trial, believing the case balanced on matters of law, rather than fact. Decker further believed Judge Woldt understood the political and financial motivation of UW officials and their lack of regard for civil liberties, since he had previously dismissed two Unauthorized Presence citations and a misdemeanor charge against Decker.

Decker mounted a defense intended to address, *inter alia*, whether the police had acted with lawful authority, and what he believed at the time concerning their lack of lawful authority. Decker attempted to introduce, during cross examination of the state's witness, that he had been subject to repeated legal actions regarding his presence on campus, with each failing to convict. But the court stated that such matters were irrelevant. (R35:11.) He managed to get into the record, because there was no objection, a letter from the prosecuting attorney that there was no proof two weeks earlier that Decker was subject to any valid restriction against his being on a UW campus. (R35:47; R14: Exhibit D) The court, however, did not apparently consider this in explaining its verdict. (R35:55ff.)

Decker called Chief Joseph LeMire as a witness. LeMire explained that there had been a "prior restriction" on Decker's presence that was found not to then be in

force (R35:15.) A separate restriction on presence had been "reissued...just prior to the event." (R35:32.) Asked if he was aware of failed attempts to prosecute Decker for violating prior restrictions, LeMire testified that he was aware of several court cases, but hastened to add that this was a "change in the restriction."

Tarmann stated the order that was reissued "just prior" to the event had not been formally served on Decker. (R35:33,44-45; R14:Exhibit C). LeMire made note of an email exchange between Decker and the new UW System President (R35:33, 35-36.) The exchange apparently suggested to the police that Decker had received some kind of notice of a new restriction, and the police concluded that Decker had "probably" seen the new restriction order. (R35:36.) The order was not entered into the record nor was any evidence presented that Decker ever received any indication that the basis of the new order was different from the old order which was deemed invalid and unenforceable. (R35.) LeMire claimed the email from Decker asked whether the order would be enforced, whether mediation could be undertaken to avoid that, and whether police should contact Decker's attorney. (R35:33,35,36.)

In fact, the email preceded any awareness by Decker that a new restriction had been issued. The purpose of the email to UW System President Ray Cross, copied to the UW Board of Regents, the Oshkosh Civility Project and Winnebago County District Attorney's office, was to point out the first order had been deemed invalid and to ask that no new order be issued. Decker suggested that the UW join him in mediation to work through their differences. This email is central to Decker's conviction, but it was never entered as evidence. Judge Woldt rejected Decker's attempts to explain its content and ordered him to stop speaking about it. (R35:62)

Decker also attempted to show that the police conduct as acknowledged by Tarmann was not consistent with the department's standard procedures, but was told by the court that whether or not the police followed procedure was also irrelevant. (R35:37.) Decker attempted to explain that the police began the encounter with force, which he believed was an unlawful means of addressing a citation offense. (R35:55.) The court told Decker that use of force was not an issue in the case. (R35:53.) Decker sought to show that the police conduct was contrary to the officers' oath of office, but the court ruled that was also irrelevant. (R35:39.)

Decker also sought to subpoena a witness, Oshkosh Northwestern photographer Joe Sienkiewicz, whom he said could have provided an account of this encounter, but the court told Sienkiewicz that he did not need to appear, because Manager Editor James Fitzhenry had said (in an apparently unsworn, *ex parte* telephone conversation) that he was "not an eyewitness" – though Decker insisted otherwise. (R35:3-4.) The Compilation of Record includes a letter from the Oshkosh Northwestern regarding this subpoena, dated five days before trial. Decker was not informed until the beginning of trial that his witness had refused to appear.

Decker ended his testimony when the court indicated he would only be permitted to address the "facts of the day", *i.e.*, May 6, 2014. (R35:53.) The state's closing included an incomplete description of its burden, not mentioning the potential defense that a defendant did not believe that officers were acting with lawful authority. (R35:53-54.) To the state, the kernel of Decker's offense was in "running inside and resisting [police] contact with him." (R35:54.)

The court did not address the issue of whether Decker believed the police acted with lawful authority, except as reduced to an untenable legal theory: that if Decker had not been legally served with the restriction, that he then *per se* did not know they had legal authority to detain him. (R35:57,62.) Decker insisted that was not his whole theory. (R35:62.) He claimed that his exclusions from campus had been unlawful and politically motivated (R35:54-55) and that when tested in court previously, they repeatedly failed to show that the exclusion was lawful (R35:58) (Proven in all 13 listed cases of Wisconsin v. Decker). The court suggested that if he felt wrongfully excluded from campus, his appropriate option would be to abandon his rights and "don't go on campus." (R35:58.) Essentially: when in doubt, throw him out. Forceful retaliation should simply be expected, the judge said.

Despite Decker's claims of repeatedly enduring discrimination and violations of his civil liberties, the court reasoned that Decker knew he was prohibited from being on campus simply because someone had said so. It was unclear who made the claim, how they made it, and from where such authority is derived. The court found it "incredible" that Decker would choose not to talk with someone who had called his name, reasoning it would be more logical for a person hearing their name to approach the caller, because people naturally do this (R35:57). And if the caller knew his name and face, "aren't those the people that...we look at to correspond with or converse with?" (R35:59.) He should have wanted to talk to Tarmann because his purpose for attending the event was "for social niceties." (R35:60.)

The court twice referred to Decker's alleged conduct within the Alumni Center. (R35:55,58.) Though the testimony had been that Decker resisted removal from the Center after police forcibly "grabbed" him, the court recounted its understanding that "when the chief came up to you and talked to you, that's when you started locking out and grabbing..." (R35:58.) Yet the court explicitly found that the state had shown Decker obstructed officers based only on his "continuing to go in" to the Center after being called to by Tarmann. (R35:56.)

The court found Decker guilty. (R35:62.) The prosecutor recommended a sentence of 4 days (time served), but the court sentenced Decker to the maximum sanction of nine months in jail, stayed in lieu of 12 months probation. (R35:65.) This appeal followed. (R22, R24.) On March 2, 2015, Decker motioned for a stay of sentence pending appeal. Judge Woldt granted the stay, but issued a new bond prohibiting Decker's presence on campus and any contact with UW-employees. (R19.)

ARGUMENT

I. The evidence adduced against Decker at trial was insufficient to convict him.

A. Legal Standards Including Standard of Review

1. Insufficiency of the Evidence.

(a) *Generally.* The standard for sufficiency of the evidence is confidence that the finder of fact could reasonably be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt by evidence which it had a right to believe and accept as true. *State v. Hamilton*, 120 Wis.2d 532, 540-41 (1984). The factfinder is allowed reasonable inferences but not to ply inference upon inference to reach a determination of guilt. *See State v. Allbaugh*, 148 Wis.2d 807 (Ct. App., 1989). Evidence must exclude to a moral certainty every other reasonable hypothesis than guilt. *State v. Johnson*, 11 Wis.2d 130 (1960); *see also State v. Lindsey*, 53 Wis.2d 759, 768 (1972). Every element must be proven, by evidence and not through presumptions. *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, (1979).

(b) *Multiple Theories of Guilt; Court's Obligation to Record Its Rationale.* In reviewing the sufficiency of evidence, an appellate court need only decide whether the theory of guilt accepted by the trier of fact, is supported by sufficient evidence; it

need not concern itself in any way with evidence which might support other theories of the crime. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507-08, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

In limiting itself to the theory considered by the trier of fact, this court should not look to possible theories left unarticulated by the court in a bench trial. A trial court is required to explain its decisions on the record, in its own words:

In all Anglo-American jurisprudence a principal obligation of the judge is to explain the reasons for his actions. His decisions will not be understood by the people and cannot be reviewed by the appellate courts unless the reasons for decisions can be examined.

State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶1, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, quoting *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 280-81, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Accord Trieschmann v. Trieschmann, 178 Wis.2d 538, 542,504 N.W.2d 433 (Ct. App. 1993) (court must "articulate the factors upon which it based its decision."). "Judicial opinions are the core work-product of judges... they constitute the logical and analytical explanations of why a judge arrived a specific decision." *Bright v. Westmoreland County*, 380 F.3d 729, 732 (3rd Cir. 2004). When a court fails to give independent reasons for decisions, it "obscures the reasoning process of the judge,... deprives the court of the findings that facilitate intelligent review,....and causes the losing litigants to conclude that they did not receive a fair shake from the court." *Walton v. United Consumers Club, Inc.*, 786 F.2d 303, 313 (7th Cir. 1986).

(c) *Credibility determinations*. Ordinarily, a trial court's findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. *Lessor v. Wangelin*, 586 N.W.2d 1, 221 Wis. 2d 659, 665 (Ct. App. 1998); Section 805.17(2), Stats. The court's finding that Decker was clearly prohibited from campus could be seen as erroneous.

When the trial court acts as the finder of fact, it is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of the witnesses and of the weight to be given to each witness's testimony. *Plesko v. Figgie Int'l*, 190 Wis.2d 764, 775, 528 N.W.2d 446, 450 (Ct. App. 1994). The trier of fact is in a far better position than an appellate court to make this determination, because it has the opportunity to observe the witnesses and their demeanor on the witness stand. *Pindel v. Czerniejewski*, 185 Wis.2d 892, 898-99, 519 N.W.2d 702, 705 (Ct. App. 1994).

However, that standard is affected here by the fact that the court did not

apparently rely on intangible factors, but on a train of logic that it made available to this court through the record. *See Vogt, Inc. v. International Broth. of Teamsters, Local 695, A.F.L.*, 270 Wis. 315, 74 N.W.2d 749, 754 (1956) (trial court's findings are "less conclusive" when based on inferences from practically undisputed facts rather than on observation of demeanor).

The court is also owed less deference because Decker could have corroborated his account of events if he had been allowed to compel the attendance of a witness. The court rejected Decker's attempt to call a corroborative witness and released the witness from subpoena because the witness asserted he did see Decker that day. (R35:3-4) This assertion occurred *ex parte*, off the record, not under oath, and over the telephone, thus not subject to the court's visual inspection of his demeanor, crossexamination, or certification of accuracy by a qualified reporter. Since it took officers several minutes to arrest Decker, it is highly unlikely that anyone present would not have seen police tackle him and struggle to apply handcuffs.

2. Elements of the Offense. The offense of obstructing has the following elements:

(1) Defendant obstructed an officer;

(2) The officer was acting in an official capacity;

(3) The officer was acting with lawful authority; and

(4) Defendant knew the officer was acting in his official capacity and with lawful authority and that his conduct would obstruct the officer.

See State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 57, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729; Wis JI — Criminal 1766. The statement of the elements may vary, and elements two and three are often stated as a single element, but their substance is uncontroversial. See State v. Elbaum, 54 Wis.2d 213, 217, 194 N.W.2d 660, 662 (1972); State v. Grobstick, 200 Wis.2d 242, 248, 546 N.W.2d 187 (Ct. App. 1996); State v. Caldwell, 154 Wis. 2d 683, 689-90, 454 N.W.2d 13 (Ct. App. 1990); State v. Hamilton, 120 Wis.2d 532, 541, 356 N.W.2d 169, 174 (1984).

The *Hamilton* court noted that "not every barrier placed in the path of an officer gives rise to a violation of sec. 946.41(1)," *id.* at 535, and the statute did not reach un-civic-minded conduct that would leave officers "justifiably irritated and disturbed," *id.* at 534. *Hamilton* thus contains the latent proposition that obstruction

must entail consequences that are more than *de minimis*, since this would have affected police duties somewhat. A court may not presume that non-cooperation is *per se* obstructive; the onus is on the state to identify an effect. *Id.* at 542-43.

The statute has paired concepts of "official capacity" and "lawful authority." Official capacity reflects that police are acting within the granted scope of their role, as shown by such sigils as badge and uniform and the assertion or application of state power. *See State v. Barrett*, 96 Wis. 2d 174, 180-81, 291 N.W.2d 498 (1980) (official capacity means doing "police work" and acting with the vested powers of a peace officer). *See also Williams v. State*, 45 Wis.2d 44, 47-48, 172 N.W.2d 31 (1969). A uniformed officer doing police-related work is *not* acting in an official capacity when going beyond his proper duties. *Barrett*, 96 Wis.2d at 181.

Lawful authority imposes an additional requirement beyond this. "'Lawful authority,' as that term is used in sub. (1), requires that police conduct be in compliance with both the federal and state constitutions, in addition to any applicable statutes." *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶16, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187.

The scienter element includes knowledge that the accused's actions met each of the other three elements. *See State v. Lossman*, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 539-40, 348 N.W. 2d 159 (1984); *accord State v. Young*, 2006 WI at ¶57. Thus accords with the canon of *reddendo singula singulis*. *See Mutual Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Milwaukee v. Sav. and Loan Advisory Committee*, 38 Wis.2d 381, 387, 157 N.W.2d 609 (1968). That canon has special application to scienter. *See Flores-Figueroa v. United States*, 556 U.S. 646, 652 129 S. Ct. 1886, 173 L.Ed.2d 853 (2009) ("courts ordinarily read a phrase in a criminal statute that introduces the elements of a crime with the word 'knowingly' as applying that word to each element").

Under Wis. Stat. § 939.23(1), (2) the term "knowingly" in the criminal code "requires only that the actor believes that the specified fact exists." *Lossman* also held explicitly that "knowledge" in this context means actual subjective belief, 118 Wis. 2d at 542-43. See also *State v. Felton*, 2004 WI App 68, ¶10, 271 Wis.2d 821, 677 NW 2d 732. The weight of authority holds that a defendant's belief is not tested for reasonableness; it need only be "honest" or "genuine." *See, e.g., State v. Bougneit*, 97 Wis.2d 687, 690-92, 294 N.W.2d 675, 677-78 (1980). In fact, a defendant who has no

formed belief at all by definition does not meet the elements of the offense.

The import of the scienter element is sometimes difficult for courts to grasp, even though similar requirements appear throughout the criminal law. Even if the citizen knows that any given two of the other elements are met, and should reasonably believe the third, his or her conduct, however harmful, is simply not criminal because there is no sufficient *mens rea*.

B. Decker's avoidance of Tarmann was not criminal.

<u>1. Obstruction</u>. To meet the element of Decker having actually obstructed the officers' performance of their duties, the first question is - what duties were they attempting to perform? The answer depends upon what point in the course of events we are examining. Initially, Lieutenant Tarmann was seeking to ask Decker to leave. (R35:9.) The alleged obstruction was that Decker did not stop to converse.

In this encounter, there was no obstruction. Tarmann could have spoken to Decker with minimal additional effort. Not only did he not match Decker's walking pace to intercept him, Tarmann did not even bother to say "stop." He apparently decided at this point that speaking to Decker outside the Center was unnecessary and did not merit even negligible effort to pursue further. Nor did it merit contacting his superior by radio. (R35:26.) There was no testimony or other direct evidence that his duties were made more than negligibly more difficult at this point. The court pointed out no reason why it would think so. (R35:56.) Decker did essentially the same as Hamilton: simply not talking with police. There is no reason here to think the police were any more importuned here than in *Hamilton*.

2. Official Capacity. The evidence did not establish that when initially calling out "Jeff," that Lieutenant Tarmann was acting in his official capacity. All Tarmann wanted to do at that point was "talk with [Decker] about him not entering" – not to issue a citation. There was no testimony that the area outside the building was part of the zone from which he was restricted. There was undisputed testimony that he and Decker knew each other outside of his work, and his familiar address to Decker suggests the invocation of that personal relationship. Though Tarmann was on duty, and part of his duty was to prohibit Decker's presence, he was not under orders to

make conversation with him. Merely calling out "Jeff" did not *invoke* his official capacity. He could just as easily have been reaching out to Decker as a friend to warn him of what he *would* do in an official capacity *if* he entered.

The court cited only one piece of evidence on official capacity: "The official capacity comes in that the officer was dressed as he is today, in full uniform..." (R35:56.) That is not only insufficient, it suggests the court did not understand that a uniformed officer may be acting in connection with his duties, and still not within an official capacity.

3. Lawful Authority.

(a) Decker's right to be on campus had just been recognized by the prosecutor.

On May 5, 2014, Decker was issued a citation for Unauthorized Presence after being invited to attend a speech on environmental policy at the UW-Oshkosh Alumni Welcome and Conference Center. On May 9th Assistant District Attorney Adam Levin motioned for dismissal of that case, 2014FO-802. This was exactly one week before Decker's arrest in the same building in the matter now before the Appellate Court. The day he was released from jail, May 19, UW-Oshkosh police cited Decker with Unauthorized Presence regarding his April 29 attendance at a student government meeting. Once again, Assistant District Attorney Levin moved to dismiss the charge. Exhibit D provides Levin's rationale for requesting dismissal of that case, 14CMFO-911 (R14: Exhibit D):

"The State cannot prove Mr. Decker was subject to a valid order of exclusion at the time of this offense."

Strangely, Mr. Levin's prosecution of this current case seems to assume that Decker was properly and lawfully prohibited from being on UW-Oshkosh property. Yet he made no effort to prove that any such lawful prohibition existed, or that Decker had been given notice of its existence. The police testify that a new order had been issued and that Decker had been verbally informed of it, but the state never offered a copy as evidence. Since no order was offered, the court must assume no such thing exists. If such an order was ever said to exist, its validity was not proven.

In reviewing the sufficiency of evidence, an appellate court need only decide

whether the theory of guilt accepted by the trier of fact is supported by sufficient evidence; it need not concern itself in any way with evidence which might support other theories of the crime. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507-08, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

If Mr. Levin believed Decker was properly prohibited from campus on May 16, he might have brought a charge of Unauthorized Presence or Trespassing. He did neither. According to the record, Nothing changed between May 9, when Mr. Levin acknowledged Decker's right to be on campus, and the arrest of May 16.

Decker firmly believes assertive patriots keep our nation free. If we don't exercize our rights we lose them. Judge Woldt seems to believe that any public servant with authority may wield as much authority as he or she cares to. The right to speak against injustice is so sacred to our way of life that it predates the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Wisconsin. Due process and rule of law are fundamental concepts in our legal system. (U.S. Constitution Amendment V, XIV).

The UW System may be the State of Wisconsin's largest agency, but it is not above the law. The court could have taken judicial notice of Decker's repeated victories in court and the barrage of desperate attempts by UW administrators to silence his advocacy for reform. The court might have concluded, as several district attorneys have, that the interests of justice are not furthered by suppressing dissent. The UW System claims to embrace dissent within the fearless sifting and winnowing through which alone the truth may be found.

(Footnote: Some might view Decker's persistence as either righteous and bold or simply obnoxious. Others view ruthless suppression of human rights as despicable and illegal.

Decker was only 19 when he was first charged with Obstructing an Officer on the assumption that citizens must comply with all police orders. A jury found Decker not guilty (98CM1320).

Fifteen years elapsed before Decker's second jury trial. Just one day before his Feb 5, 2015 conviction in Winnebago County, a Milwaukee jury found Decker not guilty. The assistant dean of students at UW-Milwaukee lied to campus police after assaulting Decker, who had ttried to film the open-meeting suspension of another student leader who objected to illegal fee increases. ("Jsonline.com: Decker acquitted of disorderly conduct," 13CM0003969). Milwaukee prosecutors pursued no charges against Decker for trespassing or unauthorized presence.

On April 10, 2014, one month before being charged in this case, the Kenosha County district attorney wrote regarding 13-CM-1520: "I will not oppose the Defendant's motion to dismiss. ... The Defendant apparently conducted himself peacefully while present (at UW-Parkside) on August 3, 2013. I do not believe that criminal prosecution is necessary to advance any clear public interest.")

(b) Reasonable Suspicion for a Stop. Because the alleged obstruction was a failure to stop, the element of lawful authority here means the authority to make him stop. Any other analysis would lead to an absurd result: that the police lacked authority to stop Decker, but they could nevertheless render his not stopping a crime by attempting to pursue their duties without stopping him.

To be a valid exercise of lawful authority under *Ferguson*, the stop had to be constitutional under the Fourth Amendment and under all other laws.

To Constitutionally effect a brief investigatory stop of a citizen, police do not need probable cause but require "reasonable suspicion" of an offense. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶20, 717 N.W.2d 729. This stop was not specifically investigatory, but was akin to such. A stop is "temporary ... and thus ... only a minor infringement on personal liberty", id., as opposed to an arrest requiring probable cause, which is "a more permanent detention that typically leads to 'a trip to the station house and prosecution for crime" *Id.*, 2006 WI at ¶22, quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 16, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

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