RECEIVED

03-07-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2015 AP 1994 CR

v.

JEFFREY S. DECKER Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED FEBRUARY 4, 2015 WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE SCOTT WOLDT, PRESIDING

Christian A. Gossett

District Attorney State Bar No. 1040212 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Adam J. Levin

Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1045816 Winnebago County Dist. Atty's Office 240 Algoma Boulevard, Beach Building P O Box 2808 Oshkosh, WI 54903-2808

(920) 236-4977

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

IV. Argument

1) The State presented sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Decker.

To determine whether evidence is sufficient to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Review of a sufficiency of the evidence claim is therefore very narrow, giving great deference to the determination of the trier of fact. State v. Hayes, 2004 WI 80, ¶¶ 56-57.

To convict Mr. Decker of obstructing an officer, the State needed to prove four elements:

- 1. The defendant obstructed an officer. To obstruct an officer means that the conduct of the defendant prevents or makes more difficult the performance of the officer's duties
- 2. The officer was doing an act in an official capacity.
- 3. The officer was acting with lawful authority
- 4. The defendant knew that the office acting in an official capacity and with lawful authority and the defendant knew his conduct would obstruct the officer.

Wis. Jury Instruction 1766 – Obstructing an Officer – Wis. Stat. 961.41(1).

The evidence reviewed in the light most favorable to the state is sufficient to sustain the conviction. Mr. Decker's conduct – going limp, holding on to furniture, and physically resisting – obstructed Lt. Tarmann. Lt. Tarmann was doing an act – contacting Mr. Decker to discuss his unlawful presence on the UWO campus – in an official (not personal or other) capacity. Lt. Tarmann was acting with lawful authority, it being reasonable when a police officer is told by the UW legal system that an individual is excluded from a UW campus, that officer act on that information. The State presented sufficient evidence that Mr. Decker knew Lt. Tarmann was a police officer (Tarmann was in full uniform, Tarmann and Decker knew each other personally and professionally before this incident (R35:P7)) and as the trial court found, "[c]learly the officers were

acting with official capacity because there was a restriction to keep [Mr. Decker] off of campus, [Mr. Decker] knew that [he was] not supposed to be on there, so [Mr. Decker] knew that the officers were acting with official capacity and lawful authority." R35:P62.

Sufficient evidence supports Mr. Decker's conviction.

2) Mr. Decker was not denied his right to present a defense.

Mr. Decker argues on appeal that he was not allowed to defend his obstruction with a theory that the exclusion order was defective ("not real, not valid, or at least not reliably so"), and illegal. Br. of Appellant, P28. That an order reasonable relied on by an officer might be collaterally defective is not a defense to obstructing.

Police officers reasonably and lawfully rely on countless official statuses in performing their official duties – database information about abuse injunctions, warrants, driving license statuses, just to name a few.

Mr. Decker recognizes that the lawfulness of his presence on UW land can be litigated if a proceeding is filed against him. He cites in his briefing, and at trial, numerous instances when he has won legal battles about the lawfulness of injunctions and exclusion orders. *See also* Board of Regents v. Decker, 2014 WI 68.

The issue in this case is whether Mr. Decker could obstruct an officer approaching him about the then-newest exclusion order. Even assuming *arguendo* the order was defective, Mr. Decker may not obstruct an officer acting in reasonable reliance on it, any more than a defendant could lawfully resist an officer acting on reliable DOT information that the defendant's driver's license is revoked, even if the defendant believes there was a procedural defect with the revocation.

Only evidence that is relevant is admissible. Wis. Stat. 904.02. The Court found that the officers were acting with lawful authority, and the defendant knew the officers were acting with lawful authority. Evidence about the substantive and procedural saga of Mr. Decker's current and prior exclusion orders is not relevant to any of the four elements of obstructing an officer, and the evidence was properly excluded.

3) Mr. Decker was given sufficient time for closing argument.

The control of the content, duration of the argument, and the form of the closing argument are within the sound discretion of the trial court.

Reversal will not be granted unless there is an abuse of discretion that was likely to have affected the fact finder's verdict. State v. Lenarchick, 74 Wis. 2d 425, 457-58 (1976). While it is true that Mr. Decker was told the trial

court had "heard enough," R15:P61, there is nothing in Mr. Decker's appellate briefing that suggests a longer closing argument would have affected the fact finder's verdict.

4) Mr. Decker's conviction should not be reversed in the interest of justice.

Wis. Stat. 752.35 allows a reviewing court to order a new trial "if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." In this case Mr. Decker was convicted for obstructing officers contacting him about a UW system order trespassing him from the grounds. The real controversy was fully tried, and justice did not, for any reason, miscarry.

Mr. Decker does not point to any prejudice from the trial court's *sua sponte* quashing of his witness subpoena. As the State reviews this record, the procedure used to quash the warrant was error, but I do not see any harm from this error. Because Mr. Decker is *pro se* I ask the Court consider an independent review of this error. The State believes that a fair review of the record does not show that this error caused any harm requiring a new trial under Wis. Stat. 752.35.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Decker's conviction should be affirmed.